
 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING  

October 05, 2021 at 5:30 PM  

AA Comeaux Recreation Center, 300 AA Comeaux Drive, 
Suite 200, Abbeville, Louisiana 70510 

 

AGENDA 

NOTICE POSTED:  October 4, 2021 at 4:00 P.M.  

REGULAR ORDER OF BUSINESS 

             Call to Order by Mayor 
             Roll Call by Kathy Faulk  
             Prayer 
             Pledge  

PERSONNEL 

PRESENTATIONS 

1. To recognize and thank Nikia Leblanc with Math Depot and Roderick "Nu" Darby with Soulful Eats for 

hosting a successful City-wide cleanup day-Councilwoman Roslyn White. 

MINUTES AND APPROVAL OF BILLS 

1. To approve the minutes from the August 27, 2021 emergency special City Council meeting, the 

September 2, 2021 special City Council meeting, the September 7, 2021 Committee Meeting and the 

September 7, 2021 regular City Council meeting. 

2. To ratify bills paid in the month of September 2021. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
                  (To allow comments on any of the following items prior to action.) 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Public hearing to receive comments from the public pertaining to an ordinance providing for the 

incurring of debt and issuance of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) revenue bond, Series 2021, of the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for the matters in connection therewith.  The bond 

will be used for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and improving recreational facilities and other 

works of public improvement. 

2. To consider an ordinance providing for the incurring of debt and issuance of the Three Million dollars 

($3,000,000) revenue bond, series 2021, of the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for 

other matters in connection therewith.  The bond will be used for the purpose of acquiring, 

constructing and improving recreational facilities and other works of public improvement.   

3. Presentation of the 2022-2027 Capital Improvement Plan for the Airport - Ms. T. J. Savoy 

4. To adopt a resolution for the Capital Improvement Plan for the Airport. 

5. To approve plan change order #2 for the Rehabilitation of the Runway and Partial Taxiway project 

which reflects an increase of $44,827.72 to provide new solar powered LED markers and increases 

the contract time by 72 days. 

6. To discuss the North Hollingsworth Bridge rating - Mr. Kim Touchet. 

7. To approve the quotation in the amount of $6,175.00 from Solomon Corporation for 

repairing/replacing of transformers. 

8. To open bids received for a Glock, model 19GEN4, 9mm caliber pistol that was seized and awarded 

to the Abbeville Police Department. 

9. To approve the purchase of a zero-turn lawn mower for Sub 1 Fire Station from Abbeville Snapper 

Sales & Service at a cost of $9,889.90. 

OLD BUSINESS 

1. Status report on LaFitte Park Walking Trail Project - Mr. Gene Sellers. 

DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS AND UPDATES 

1



1.        Mayor  

2.        Police Chief 

3.        Fire Chief 

TOPICS FOR DISCUSSION 

1.        Council Members 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. To discuss pending litigation. 

ADJOURN 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 

if you need special assistance, please contact 
Mayor Mark Piazza’s office at 337-893-8550, 
describing the assistance that is necessary. 

2



1 
 

City of Abbeville 

Emergency Special Meeting 

August 27, 2021 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Abbeville met in emergency special session on August 27, 

2021 at 4:30 P.M., at the regular meeting place, the Council Meeting Room located at 101 North 

State Street, Abbeville, Louisiana, with the Honorable Mark Piazza, Mayor, presiding. 

 

Members Present: Council Members, Francis Plaisance, Terry Broussard, Francis 

Touchet, Jr., Mayor Pro-Tem and Roslyn White   

 

Members Absent:  Councilman Brady Broussard, Jr.   

 

Also, Present:   Ike Funderburk, City Attorney 

    Jude Mire, Fire Chief 

    Bill Spearman, Police Chief 

    Allie Horton, Digital Media Assistant 

    Richard Primeaux, Engineer 

               

Mayor Piazza asked for a moment of silence to ask the Lord to be merciful to all Louisianians for 

the approaching Hurricane Ida.   

 

Mayor Piazza stated we are here today for an emergency special meeting.  We have two items 

on the agenda.  The first one is to declare a state of emergency as a result of Hurricane Ida.  He 

just attended an OEP meeting and the parish has declared a state of emergency and the State 

declared that yesterday.  It would be appropriate for us to also because we will expend costs as a 

result of emergency protective measures that will need to be covered.   

 

Plaisance/Touchet 

Resolution R21-31 

 

A resolution authorizing a state of emergency as a result of Hurricane Ida. 

 

The motion carried unanimously. 

 

Mayor Piazza stated we started handing out sandbags at 7:00 AM this morning.  They will 

continue handing out sandbags until 6:00 PM today.  Tomorrow morning, they will go back and 

hand out more and they will continue to fill more.  We have somewhere between 500-1,000 

sandbags ready to go.  We purchased additional bags and sand so we should have plenty.  This 

storm does not look like it will be a rain event.  According to projections, we should not get a 

whole lot of flooding.  We have electrical crews on the way.  We have secured crews from Echo 

and our friends from Georgia are enroute.  Councilman Plaisance has already secured the rooms 

for the crews.  Our electrical system is in good shape.  We have all of our transformers that were 

purchased last year in place and we have the spare that is available.  The switch that went out 

the other day has been repaired.  Harvey Dubois stated that our electrical system is in the best 

shape it has been in years.  That doesn’t mean that we won’t have dozens of huge oak trees falling 

all over the place and tearing down lines.  Shelton Energy, a crew that has been working with us, 

is also staying on.  All generators have been filled up and have been serviced.   The water and 

sewer plants have made the necessary preparations as usual and he has met with all the 

supervisors.  Aurris and Paul will be on call to help the street crew.  Everything at the parks have 

been secured.  We have received a mobile generator from OEP for the lift stations to use for the 

3



2 
 

storm.  Chief Spearman stated he will implement a curfew from 6 PM Sunday evening until 6 AM 

Monday morning.  They also have chainsaws to help if needed.  Chief Mire stated everything is 

ready to go.  They now have a boat and motor as well as chainsaws if needed.   Chief Spearman 

asked if the trash trucks would be able to pick up the debris before the storm.  Mayor Piazza asked 

Allie to put that if anyone has loose debris in front of their house, the Police Jury will not be picking 

that up before the storm and it should be removed and put in a secure location.   

 

Mr. Richard Primeaux presented the contracts for emergency debris removal.  These are for 

Acadiana Shell, Vermilion Shell and for Primeaux, Touchet & Associates, LLC.  The contracts have 

been changed to include FEMA requirements and insurance requirements.  Each contractor will 

give us two crews. 

 

Touchet/Plaisance 

Resolution R21-32 

 

A resolution authorizing the execution of emergency debris removal contracts and a professional 

services contract in connection with same. 

 

The motion carried unanimously. 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Piazza declared this meeting adjourned. 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVE: 

 

 

 

Kathleen S. Faulk    Mark Piazza 

Secretary-Treasurer    Mayor 

4



1 
 

City of Abbeville 

Special Meeting 

September 2, 2021 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Abbeville met in special session on September 2, 2021 at 

5:00 P.M., at the regular meeting place, the Council Meeting Room located at 101 North State 

Street, Abbeville, Louisiana, with the Honorable Mark Piazza, Mayor, presiding. 

 

Members Present: Council Members, Francis Plaisance, Terry Broussard, Brady 

Broussard, Jr., and Roslyn White   

 

Members Absent:  Councilman Francis Touchet, Jr., Mayor Pro-Tem   

 

Also, Present:   Ike Funderburk, City Attorney 

    Bill Spearman, Police Chief 

    Lieutenant Jonathan Touchet 

    Nicholas Vincent 

     

               

Mayor Piazza stated we are here tonight for a special City Council meeting to hold an executive 

session to interview one candidate for Police Officer and then, if appropriate, to hire a police 

officer for the Abbeville Police Department. 

 

-01 introduced by Ms. Terry Broussard and seconded by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. to enter into 

executive session to conduct an interview with one candidate for the position of Police Officer 

with the Abbeville Police Department.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-02 introduced by Ms. Roslyn White and seconded by Mr. Francis Plaisance to reconvene the 

special meeting from executive session.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-03 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. to approve the 

probational appointment of Nicholas Vincent to the position of Police Officer with the Abbeville 

Police Department pending successful completion of all post-hire assessments.  The motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Piazza declared this meeting adjourned. 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVE: 

 

 

 

Kathleen S. Faulk    Mark Piazza 

Secretary-Treasurer    Mayor 

5



 1 

City of Abbeville 

Committee Meeting  

September 7, 2021 

 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Abbeville met for a committee meeting on September 7, 

2021 at 5:15 P.M., at the A. A. Comeaux Recreation Center located at 300 A. A. Comeaux 

Memorial Drive, Abbeville, Louisiana, with the Honorable Mark Piazza, Mayor, presiding. 

 

Members Present: Council Members Francis Plaisance, Terry Broussard, Brady 

Broussard, Jr., and Roslyn White  

 

Members Absent: Councilman Francis Touchet, Jr., Mayor Pro-Tem 

 

Also Present: Ike Funderburk, City Attorney 

 Jude Mire, Fire Chief 

 Richard Primeaux, Engineer 

 Gene Sellers, Engineer  

        

Mayor Piazza stated we are here for an Ordinance Committee meeting chaired by 

Councilwoman Terry Broussard.  He turned the floor over to Councilwoman Broussard.  

Councilwoman Broussard stated we are here to amend and reenact Chapter 5-Buidlings; 

Article IX-Signs; Section 5-272-Attached Signs; (b)(4)(b)(2) to recalculate the size of a 

secondary sign on a gas station canopy.  She turned the floor over to Mr. Ike Funderburk. 

 

Mr. Funderburk stated that when we were doing the original sign ordinance there was a typo 

when making a determination of the square footage of the secondary sign on a canopy.  We 

didn’t discover the error until now because this is the first time we have had a request for a 

canopy.  Hurricane Delta took down the canopy at Shop-Rite.  Four square feet will not work 

for a sign on a canopy.  He suggests that we changed that to 25 square feet. 

 

-01 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Terry Broussard to recommend 

to the City Council at their next meeting to adopt an ordinance to amend and reenact Chapter 

5- Buildings; Article IX-Signs; Section 5-272-Attached Signs; (b)(4)(b)(2) to recalculate the 

size of a secondary sign on a gas station canopy.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Piazza declared this meeting adjourned. 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVE: 

 

 

 

Kathleen S. Faulk    Mark Piazza 

Secretary-Treasurer    Mayor 

6



1 
 

City of Abbeville 

Regular Meeting 

September 7, 2021 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Abbeville met in regular session on September 7, 2021 at 

5:30 P.M., at the A. A. Comeaux Recreation Center, located at 300 A. A. Comeaux Memorial Drive, 

Suite101 North State Street, Abbeville, Louisiana, with the Honorable Mark Piazza, Mayor, 

presiding. 

 

Members Present: Council Members, Francis Plaisance, Brady Broussard, Jr., Terry 

Broussard, Jr., and Roslyn White    

 

Members Absent:  Councilman Francis Touchet, Jr., Mayor Pro-Tem   

 

Also, Present:   Ike Funderburk, City Attorney 

    Jude Mire, Fire Chief 

    Bill Spearman, Police Chief 

    Lieutenant Jonathan Touchet 

    Lee Schexnaider, Wastewater 

    Gene Sellers, Engineer 

    Richard Primeaux, Engineer  

               

Mayor Piazza asked Councilman Francis Plaisance to lead those assembled in prayer. Councilman 

Plaisance requested a moment of silence for the victims of Hurricane Ida and then followed the 

moment of silence was followed by reciting the Lord’s Prayer in unison.  Mayor Piazza asked 

Councilwoman Terry Broussard to lead the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

Mayor Piazza stated that the first item was to recognize Megan Pearson Bertrand and Brad 

Pearson for their artistic work on the splashpad at Comeaux Park but Ms. Bertrand was feeling 

under the weather and could not be here tonight so we will recognize her at a later meeting. 

 

-01 introduced by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. and seconded by Ms. Roslyn White to approve the 

minutes from the August 3, 2021 Committee meeting and the July 20, 2021, August 3, 2021 and 

August 17, 2021 regular City Council meetings.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-02 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Roslyn White to ratify bills paid in 

the month of August 2021.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-03 introduced by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. and seconded by Mr. Francis Plaisance to amend the 

agenda to change new business item number 11 to read as follows:  To adopt a resolution 

authorizing the Mayor to execute a purchase agreement with the owners of the property located 

at 303 Joffre Street for the full sum of $80,000.00, of which $10,000.00 shall be paid upon the 

execution of the purchase agreement, with the balance payable upon the execution of the cash 

deed.  The closing shall be on or before January 15, 2022.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

Mayor Piazza asked if there were any public comments on any of the agenda items prior to action.  

There were none. 

 

-04 introduced by Ms. Terry Broussard and seconded by Ms. Roslyn White to award the contract 

for the McKinley Scott Park pavilion concrete slab to Magnate Construction, LLC in the amount 

of $69,000.00.  The motion carried unanimously 

7



2 
 

 

Mayor Piazza stated this part of the project was not added to the 2021 budget because we had 

to wait to see if we would receive any reimbursement for the two hurricanes last year.  We 

recently received about $500,000.00 as part of an insurance settlement for the two hurricanes.  

We still have not received all the reimbursements from FEMA however.  FEMA is slowly 

reimbursing us a few dollars at a time.  We will need to amend the budget for the concrete slab 

project at McKinley Scott pavilion.  He checked with Gene Sellers today and the money we have 

budgeted for the Streetscape Project is not going to happen this year.  That frees up about 

$130,000.00 which is about what we will pay for the elevation and the slab of the McKinley Scott 

pavilion.  So, the money is actually budgeted but it is in a different place.  We will move the money 

budgeted for the Streetscape Project to McKinley Scott Park.  We will reallocate the funds for the 

Streetscape project in next year’s budget.   

 

-05 introduced by Ms. Terry Broussard and seconded by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. to amend the 

2021 budget to move $130,000.00 from the City Sales Tax Fund general ledger line item 422610-

Streetscape project to general ledger line item 453600-McKinley Scott Park Capital Outlay.  The 

motion carried unanimously. 

 

-06 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Terry Broussard to award the 

contract for the Wastewater Treatment Plant generator repair to MMR in the amount of 

$5,240.00.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-07 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Roslyn White to approve the 

quotation from Bihm Construction of $5,000.00 per day for the sewer main repair at John Hardy 

and E. Lafayette Street.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

Mr. Lee Schexnaider reported the repair had been completed today.  It only took one day. 

 

-08 introduced by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. and seconded by Ms. Terry Broussard to approve the 

quote from Griner Drilling to repair one pump at the Washington Sewer Lift Station in the amount 

of $9,635.00.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-09 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Terry Broussard to approve the 

accounting of the 2020 Tax Roll.   The motion carried unanimously. 

 

-10 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. to award the 

contract, from quotes received, for the Rehabilitation of the Lime Sludge Thickener Unit for the 

Water Treatment Plant to Southern Constructors, LLC in the amount of $186,742.00.  The motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

Mayor Piazza asked if the ARPA funds could be used to pay for this repair.  Mr. Gene Sellers stated 

it could be used and we will also apply for additional grant funds through the Water Section 

Program and the Capital Outlay program.  Mayor Piazza added that the State was also awarded 

ARPA funds and they have decided to give some of their money to municipalities for water and 

wastewater improvements.  That way if we get those additional grants, we can put up the match 

instead of paying for the entire repair ourselves. 

 

-11 introduced by Mr. Francis Plaisance and seconded by Ms. Terry Broussard to authorize Sellers 

and Associates, Inc. to prepare the Water Sector Program application on behalf of the City of 

Abbeville.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

8



3 
 

White/T. Broussard 

Resolution R21-33 

 

A resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute an intergovernmental agreement between the City 

of Abbeville, the Vermilion Parish Police Jury and the Coulee Kinney Drainage Board for Sellers 

and Associates, Inc. to conduct a drainage study for Allen Alexander and the adjacent 

unincorporated island #2. 

 

The motion carried unanimously. 

 

Councilman Broussard stated that the Council is the legislative body of the City and it is their 

responsibility to tweak and strengthen ordinances when necessary.  Right now, we have more 

garbage, more rubbish, more tall weeds, more tires in the ditches, more broken windows, more 

blue tarps and other things.  City employees have spoken to him to see if we can keep these 

enforcements moving.  Letters go out and the City waits, and waits and waits.  The good neighbors 

of these offenders, are tired of waiting and our employees would like to see if we could have 

consequences for the non-compliant property owners.  We do have consequences and those 

probably worked in 1972.  This is not society today.  He hopes that the Ordinance Committee can 

work with Ike to see what we can do to strengthen our ordinances for this so there is more 

compliance.  Councilwoman Broussard stated she is with Councilman Broussard on this.  The 

problem is when you can’t identify who did the illegal dumping.  We need to find a way to tweak 

that.  Councilman Broussard stated that we hit brick walls and obstacles and we can’t trample on 

the Constitutional rights.  The constitutional right does not include tires blocking our drainage, 

houses torn down and pushed to the street and etc.  Councilman Plaisance stated that 

constitutional rights do not allow you to be a pig.  There are people who bring garbage into the 

City and deposit it.  He called the police department the other day because he saw an elderly 

gentleman and his son unloading trash by the side of the road.  He also saw a trailer full of trees 

being deposited into the City.  It is a mindset where people don’t have to pride in the City.  There 

needs to be consequences.  Councilman Broussard asked Ike to work with the Ordinance 

Committee and report back to the Council some time in October.  Councilman Plaisance asked 

Chief Spearman if they can charge someone for illegal dumping.  Chief Spearman stated 

sometimes yes and sometimes no.  Councilwoman White asked if a witness calls in something and 

has the license plate number if that is enough to press charges.  Chief Spearman stated if the 

witness is willing to sign a statement and come to court to testify.  Mr. Funderburk stated that is 

one of the major problems.  No one wants to spend any of their precious time waiting in court for 

something to go on trial.  Every Wednesday it is a battle for him to have witnesses for the cases 

that are being tried.  People don’t want to come to court or they can’t be served.  You have to 

have live testimony.  Mayor Piazza asked if the additional cameras would help.  Mr. Funderburk 

stated he would love to have that for every case along with the testimony of someone.  The 

camera alone has issues regarding getting it into evidence.  If we can prosecute, we will.  If we 

have the case that we can make, we will prosecute.  The existing ordinance already provides for 

misdemeanor penalties on this.  Misdemeanor penalties have gone up in the last five years.  We 

can make that change.  Councilman Broussard stated that it is so bad that the contractors are 

now not taking the jobs for fear of their safety.  Our good citizens don’t deserve that.  We are 

tasked with getting a stronger ordinance for things like that. 

 

-12 introduced by Ms. Roslyn White and seconded by Mr. Brady Broussard, Jr. to surplus a seized 

Glock, Model 19Gen4, 9mm pistol, awarded to the Abbeville Police Department.  The firearm will 

only be sold by sealed bids and to FFL dealers only.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

 

9



4 
 

White/Plaisance 

Resolution R21-34 

 

A resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a purchase agreement with the owners of the 

property located at 303 Joffre Street for the full sum of $80,000.00, of which $10,000.00 shall be 

paid upon the execution of the purchase agreement, with the balance payable upon the execution 

of the cash deed.  Closing shall be on or before January 15, 2022.   

 

The motion carried unanimously. 

 

Mayor Piazza stated that we had originally budgeted $16,000.00 in the 2021 budget to purchase 

additional property near LaFitte Park.  We did not need to use that because the DeGrauuw family 

donated that property to the City.  Chief Jude stated the property is next to the fire station and 

will allow the addition of another driveway and additional parking. 

 

Richard Primeaux, Engineer 

- At the end of September, we will be near the end of the 45-day lien period for the drainage 

project. 

- The rotor project at the Wastewater Treatment Plant is basically ready and he is waiting 

for Lee Schexnaider to review the plan. 

 

Mayor Mark Piazza 

- We dodged a very serious storm.  There are a lot of people without electricity.  It is a very 

serious situation.  Some of them don’t have a lot of food to eat.  There is a gasoline 

shortage right now too.  He spoke to his nephew who works for St. Mary Magdalen Church 

and he and a big group went down on Saturday and helped out with trimming trees and 

cleaning up debris and other things.  He had also done this for Hurricane Laura last year.  

He told him that the destruction from Ida is worse than Laura.  Mayor Piazza’s good friend 

in Grand Isle has been sleeping on his front porch for two weeks.  They don’t have gasoline 

to fill up generators.  Their generators were damaged by the salt water and salt air so 

most of them are not operable.  There is no water, no fuel, no electricity and no sewer.  

They are living on sandwiches and bottled water.  Mayor Piazza stated he is supposed to 

hear from Patrick Duhon tomorrow to see if he thinks the fuel shortage problem is 

improving.  His station on Charity was open today.  He has also guaranteed him that our 

emergency personnel will have fuel at his station.  He has shut down the sale of fuel to the 

general public so he could reserve fuel for the first responders.  He has enough fuel for 

them for one week.  We will be rationing fuel at the City Barn.  We normally go through 

one-half of the tank in a week.  We still have three quarters of the tank.  We are in good 

shape with the fuel we have in stock and Jude and Pat are letting our first responders fill 

up at their station.   

 

Bill Spearman, Police Chief 

- Distributed a breakdown of types of calls the department has responded to in the last two 

weeks.  They had 586 calls. 

- He has 9 people out on sick leave. 

 

Jude Mire, Fire Chief 

- Distributed a breakdown of types of calls the department has responded to in the last two 

weeks.  They ran 108 calls 

- There is a broken garage door at the station on Maude. 

- The aerial truck is still in the shop.  It has been there 3 weeks. 

10



5 
 

- They received an AFT Grant in the amount of $53,000.00.  They will purchase an air 

compressor that will fill up their air bottles. 

- We received a Centerpoint Energy grant.  We purchased 6 thermal imagers.  When they 

go into a house fire, they can use this to find people.  They can see a person through the 

smoke. 

- The new boat is outside for everyone to view. 

 

Councilwoman Roslyn White 

- The Hollingsworth Street overlay is about halfway done.  The project is going well. 

- The street overlay at the R V Park may begin as early as this week. 

- The next street overlay project she is looking at is overlaying the beginning of Graceland. 

 

Councilman Francis Plaisance 

- He has been working with Kenny Patton with ARC.   They want to set up a large facility 

here and we tried to work on the old Schwegmann building but that is a problem that Ike 

can’t seem to break through.  We went from there to the old Bay City Ford location and 

he thought it was going to work because they offered them $1,000,000.00 and they 

agreed then changed their minds and upped the price.  Now, they are interested in the 

property directly across the street from John Craig Texaco.  They want the whole front but 

that part belongs to the City so they would have to lease that from us.  He spoke to the 

Mayor about that.  They will approach the Council to lease only the entrance to the 

property.  Councilman Broussard stated there is a precedent for that.  Other businesses on 

the By-pass do lease property from us for their driveways.  Mr. Funderburk stated he has 

communicated with Mr. Patton and he informed him that we do not have sewer lines on 

that property they are interested in.  That would cause an additional expense for them.  

Councilman Broussard stated that he had told Mr. Patton the same thing.  He also told 

him that Sassy Suds paid to bring sewer to their business.  Mayor Piazza asked Mr. Gene 

Sellers if the line would be large enough or deep enough from Sassy Suds.  Mr. Sellers 

stated that he would have to research that. 

 

Councilman Brady Broussard, Jr. 

- Asked what is the status of the LCDBG street overlay program?  Mayor Piazza stated that 

it was eliminated.  Mr. Sellers agreed that there are none now.  Mayor Piazza stated that 

most awards are for water and sewer projects.  Street overlays score very poorly.   We can 

only apply for CDBG funds every other year. We will, supposedly, be able to use the Federal 

Infrastructure bill funds for street overlays according to Senator Bill Cassidy.  Councilman 

Broussard stated that street overlays are desperately needed. 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Piazza declared this meeting adjourned. 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVE: 

 

 

 

Kathleen S. Faulk    Mark Piazza 

Secretary-Treasurer    Mayor 

 

 

 

 

 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



The following ordinance having been introduced at a meeting on September 21, 2021, was 

offered by ____________ and seconded by _____________: 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 21-07               

 

An ordinance providing for the incurring of debt and issuance of the 

Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, of the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for other matters in 

connection therewith. 

 

WHEREAS, Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes 

of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority (the "Act"), authorizes the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana (the "Issuer") to make and enter into contracts dedicating the 

excess of annual revenues of subsequent years, from any source, above contractual, necessary and 

usual charges; and 

 

WHEREAS, for the current fiscal year the Issuer anticipates an excess of revenues over 

contractual, necessary and usual charges and all other expenses for such fiscal year, sufficient to 

meet the maximum principal and interest requirements in any future year on the Revenue Bond, 

Series 2021, authorized herein (the "Bond") and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, as defined herein, 

and the Issuer will herein obligate itself and its successors in office to budget and set aside annually 

adequate funds for the payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, as defined herein; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with the foregoing, the Issuer now desires to 

incur debt and issue its Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, in the 

manner authorized and provided by the Act, for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and 

improving recreational facilities and other works of public improvement of the Issuer and paying 

the costs of issuance of the Bond; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is not now a party to any contract pledging or dedicating its excess 

of annual revenues above contractual, necessary and usual charges, other than its (i) Revenue and 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, and (ii) Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (collectively, the 

"Outstanding Parity Bonds"); and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Issuer to fix the details necessary with respect to the 

issuance of the Bond and to provide for the authorization and issuance thereof; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the further desire of the Issuer to provide for the sale of the Bond to the 

Purchaser (hereinafter defined) as hereinafter provided;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Abbeville, 

State of Louisiana, acting as the governing authority of the Issuer: 

 

SECTION 1.  Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following 

meanings, unless the context otherwise requires: 

42



 
 

 

"Act"  shall mean Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised 

Statutes of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority. 

 

"Additional Parity Obligations" shall mean any pari passu additional obligations 

hereafter issued by the Issuer on a parity with the Bond, with respect to the excess of annual 

revenues of the Issuer, all as provided herein. 

 

"Agreement" shall mean the agreement to be entered into between the Issuer and the 

Paying Agent pursuant to this Ordinance. 

 

"Bond" shall mean the Issuer's Revenue Bond, Series 2021, authorized by this Ordinance, 

in the total aggregate principal amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000), whether initially 

delivered or issued in exchange for, upon transfer of, or in lieu of any bond previously issued. 

 

"Bond Counsel" shall mean Foley & Judell, L.L.P., or another attorney or firm of 

attorneys whose experience in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by states and their 

political subdivision is nationally recognized. 

 

"Bond Register" shall mean the records kept by the Paying Agent, hereinafter defined, at 

their principal corporate office in which registration of the Bond and transfers of the Bond shall 

be made as provided herein. 

 

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 

"Executive Officers" shall mean, collectively, the Mayor and City Clerk of the Governing 

Authority. 

 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the one-year accounting period commencing on January 1st of 

each year, or such other period as may be designated by the Governing Authority as the fiscal year 

of the Issuer. 

 

"Governing Authority" shall mean the City Council of the City of Abbeville, State of 

Louisiana, or its successor in function. 

 

"Government Securities" shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of 

and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, which are 

non-callable prior to their maturity, may be United States Treasury obligations such as the State 

and Local Government Series and may be in book-entry form. 

 

"Interest Payment Date" shall mean March 1 and September 1 of each year during which 

the Bond is outstanding, commencing on March 1, 2022. 

 

"Issuer" or "City" shall mean the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana. 

 

"Ordinance" shall mean this ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bond, as it may be 

supplemented and amended. 

43



 
 

 

"Outstanding" when used with respect to the Bond shall mean, as of the date of 

determination, any Bond or portion thereof theretofore issued and delivered under this Ordinance, 

except: 

 

1. Any Bond theretofore canceled by the Paying Agent or delivered to the 

Paying Agent for cancellation; 

 

2. Any Bond or portion thereof for which payment sufficient funds or 

government securities, or both, have been theretofore deposited in trust for the 

owners of such Bond with the effect specified in this Ordinance or by law;  

 

3. Any Bond in exchange for or in lieu of which another Bond has been 

registered and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance; and 

 

4. Any Bond alleged to have been mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen which 

may have been paid as provided in this Ordinance or by law.  

 

"Outstanding Parity Bonds" collectively, shall mean the Issuer's Revenue and Refunding 

Bonds, Series 2012 and Revenue Bonds, Series 2016. 

 

"Owner" or "Owners" when used with respect to any Bond, shall mean the Person in 

whose name such Bond is registered in the Bond Register. 

 

"Paying Agent" shall mean Gulf Coast Bank, in Abbeville, Louisiana, as paying agent 

and registrar hereunder, until a successor Paying Agent shall have become such pursuant to the 

applicable provisions of the Ordinance, and thereafter "Paying Agent" shall mean such successor 

Paying Agent.   

 

"Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, 

joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political 

subdivision thereof. 

 

"Purchaser" shall mean Gulf Coast Bank, in Abbeville, Louisiana, purchaser of the Bond. 

 

"Record Date" for the interest payable on any Interest Payment Date, shall mean the 15th 

calendar day of the month next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

SECTION 2.  Authorization of Bond; Maturities. In compliance with the terms and 

provisions of the Act, there is hereby authorized the incurring of an indebtedness of Three Million 

Dollars ($3,000,000) for, on behalf of, and in the name of the Issuer, for the purpose of acquiring, 

constructing, and improving recreational facilities and other works of public improvement of the 

Issuer and paying the costs of issuance of the Bond, and to represent said indebtedness this Govern-

ing Authority does hereby authorize the issuance of its Revenue Bond, Series 2021, in the principal 

amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000). The Bond shall be initially issued in the form of a 

single, fully-registered bond, dated the date of delivery thereof, numbered R-1 and in the aggregate 

principal amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000). The Bond shall bear interest from the 

44



 
 

 

dated date thereof or from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid 

or duly provided for, such interest to be payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 of 

each year, commencing March 1, 2022, at the rate of 1.75% per annum, said interest to be 

calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, and shall mature in 

installments as described in Section 3 below. 

 

The principal of and interest on the Bond, upon final maturity or redemption in whole, shall 

be payable at the principal office of the Paying Agent, upon presentation and surrender thereof. 

All other payments of principal and interest on the Bond shall be payable by check of the Paying 

Agent mailed by the Paying Agent to the Owner (determined as of the close of business on the 

Record Date) at the address shown on the Bond Register. Each Bond delivered under this 

Ordinance upon transfer of, in exchange for or in lieu of any other Bond shall carry all the rights 

to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, which were carried by such other Bond, and each 

such Bond shall bear interest (as herein set forth) so neither gain nor loss in interest shall result 

from such transfer, exchange or substitution. 

 

No Bond shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Ordinance, or be valid or obliga-

tory for any purpose, unless there appears on such Bond a certificate of registration, substantially 

in the form provided in this Ordinance, executed by the Paying Agent by manual signature. 

 

The Bond is hereby issued on a parity with the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and the Bond 

shall rank equally with and enjoy complete parity of lien with the Outstanding Parity Bonds on the 

excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of 

the fiscal years during which the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds are outstanding.  It is 

certified that the Issuer has complied with, or will comply with prior to the issuance of the Bond, 

all the terms and conditions for the issuance of pari passu certificates of indebtedness set forth in 

the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Outstanding Parity Bonds. 

 

SECTION 3. Installment Payments. The Bond shall mature in installments without 

necessity of notice on March 1 in the years and in the principal amounts set forth below: 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank]

45



       Year    Principal  

   (March 1)      Amount     

 2022 $             0 

 2023  310,000 

 2024  315,000 

 2025  320,000 

 2026  330,000 

 2027  335,000 

  2028  340,000 

 2029  345,000 

 2030  350,000 

 2031*  355,000 

 

           * Final Maturity 

 

SECTION 4.  Redemption Provisions. The unpaid principal of the Bond shall be subject 

to redemption prior to maturity in whole or in part at any time on or after March 1, 2026, at the 

option of the Issuer, at the redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Bond to be 

redeemed plus accrued interest on the Bond, if any, to the redemption date.  

 

 Official notice of such call of all or any portion of the Bond for optional redemption will 

be given by first class mail, postage prepaid, by notice deposited in the United States mail, or by 

accepted means of electronic communication, not less than twenty (20) days prior to the 

redemption date addressed to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed at his address as 

shown on the registration books of the Paying Agent. The notice provided for any optional 

redemption may provide that such optional redemption is conditioned upon the availability of 

funds therefor. 

 

SECTION 5.  Registration and Transfer.  The Issuer shall cause the Bond Register to be 

kept by the Paying Agent.  Bonds may be transferred, registered and assigned only on the Bond 

Register, which such registration shall be at the expense of the Issuer, and only by the execution 

of and compliance with the assignment form on the Bond being transferred. A new Bond may, 

upon request, be delivered by the Paying Agent to the last assignee (the new Owner) in exchange 

for such transferred and assigned Bond after receipt of the Bond to be transferred in proper form. 

Such new Bond shall be in the denomination of $100,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in 

excess thereof within a single maturity. The Paying Agent shall not be required to issue, register 

the transfer of, or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business on a 

Record Date and ending at the close of business on the Interest Payment Date. 

 

SECTION 6.  Form of Bond. The Bond and the endorsements to appear thereon shall be 

in substantially the following form set forth in Exhibit B hereto. 

 

SECTION 7.  Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be signed by the Executive Officers 

for, on behalf of, in the name of and under the corporate seal of the Issuer, which signatures and 

corporate seal may be either manual or facsimile. 

 

46



 
 

 

SECTION 8.  Pledge and Dedication of Revenues.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, 

the Bond shall be secured by and payable from the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above 

contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of the fiscal years during which the Bond is 

outstanding. The lien of the bonds on the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer shall be equal to 

that of the Outstanding Parity Bonds. There is hereby irrevocably pledged and dedicated to the 

payment of the Bond an amount of such excess of annual revenues sufficient to pay same in 

principal and interest as they respectively mature. Until the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds 

shall have been paid in full in principal and interest, this Governing Authority does hereby obligate 

the Issuer, itself and its successors in office, to budget annually a sum of money sufficient to pay 

the principal of and interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, including any principal 

and/or interest theretofore matured and then unpaid, and to levy and collect in each year taxes and 

to collect other revenues, within the limits prescribed by law, sufficient to pay the principal of and 

the interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds after payment in such years of all the 

said statutory, necessary and usual charges of the Issuer for the then current year. No further or 

additional pledges or dedications of the aforesaid excess of annual revenues shall be made which 

shall have priority over or parity with the pledge and dedication of such revenues herein made, 

except as provided in Section 10 hereof.  

 

SECTION 9.  Sinking Fund. (a) For the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, the Issuer shall maintain a special fund known as the 

"Refunding and Revenue Bonds (2012) Sinking Fund," (the "Sinking Fund"), said Sinking Fund to 

be established and  maintained with the Paying Agent or regularly designated fiscal agent bank of 

the Issuer.  For the payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, the Issuer shall deposit 

in the Sinking Fund at least three (3) days in advance of the date on which each payment of 

principal and/or interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds falls due, funds fully 

sufficient to promptly pay the maturing principal and/or interest falling due on such date. Said 

fiscal agent bank or banks shall make available from the Sinking Fund to the Paying Agent at least 

one (1) day in advance of the date on which each payment of principal and interest on the Bond 

falls due, funds fully sufficient to pay promptly the principal and interest, if any, falling due on 

such date. 

 

(b) It shall be specifically understood and agreed, however, and this provision shall be 

a part of this contract, that after the funds have actually been budgeted out of the revenues of any 

Fiscal Year sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity 

Bonds for that Fiscal Year, then any excess of annual revenues remaining in that Fiscal Year shall 

be free for expenditure by the Issuer for any other lawful corporate purpose. 

 

(c) All moneys deposited with the regularly designated fiscal agent bank or banks of 

the Issuer or the Paying Agent under the terms of this Ordinance shall constitute sacred funds for 

the benefit of the Owners of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and shall be secured by 

said fiduciaries at all times to the full extent thereof in the manner required by law for the securing 

of deposits of public funds. 

 

  (d) All or any part of the moneys in the Sinking Fund shall, at the written request of 

the Issuer, be invested in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of Louisiana, in 

47



 
 

 

which event all income derived from such investments shall be added to the General Fund of the 

Issuer.  

 

SECTION 10.  Additional Parity Obligations. The Issuer shall issue no other bonds or 

obligations of any kind or nature payable from or enjoying a lien on the excess of annual revenues 

of the Issuer above the said statutory, necessary and usual charges, having priority over or parity 

with the Bond herein authorized except that Additional Parity Obligations may hereafter be issued 

on a parity with the Bond under the following conditions: 

 

(a) The net excess of annual revenues of the Issuer (excess of revenues over 

expenditures, which shall include any fund balance carried forward from a 

prior year), for the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the issuance of 

Additional Parity Obligations must have been not less than 1.10 times the 

highest annual debt service requirements in any succeeding Fiscal Year on 

all obligations then outstanding, including the Outstanding Parity Bonds 

and any Additional Parity Obligations theretofore issued and then 

outstanding which are payable from the excess of general revenues of the 

Issuer (but not including obligations which have been refunded or 

provisions otherwise made for their full and complete payment and 

redemption), and the Additional Parity Obligations so proposed to be 

issued; 

 

(b) The Issuer shall be in full compliance with all covenants and undertakings 

in connection with the Bond, and there are no delinquencies in payments 

required to be made to the Sinking Fund established and maintained for the 

security and payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds; 

 

(c) The existence of the facts required by the foregoing paragraphs (a) and (b) 

must be determined and certified by the Executive Officers; and 

 

(d) The Additional Parity Obligations must be payable as to principal on March 

1 of each year in which principal becomes due, and interest thereon must be 

payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year following the date 

thereof. 

 

In addition to the foregoing, the Bond, the Outstanding Parity Bonds, or any part hereof, 

including interest thereon, may be refunded and the refunding bonds so issued shall enjoy whatever 

priority of lien over subsequent issues may have been enjoyed by the Bond refunded; provided, 

however, that if only a portion of the Bond outstanding is so refunded and if the refunding bonds 

require principal and interest payments during any year in excess of the principal and interest 

which would have been required to pay the Bond refunded thereby, then such Bond may not be 

refunded without the consent of the Owners of the unrefunded portion of the Bond, Outstanding 

Parity Bonds and any Additional Parity Obligations (provided such consent shall not be required 

if such refunding bonds meet the requirements set forth elsewhere in this section).   

48



 
 

 

SECTION 11. Budget; Audit. As long as the Bond or any portion thereof is Outstanding, 

the Issuer shall prepare and adopt a budget prior to the beginning of each Fiscal Year and shall, 

upon request, furnish a copy of such budget within thirty (30) days after its adoption to the Owners 

of any of the Bond who request the same. Not later than six (6) months after the close of each 

Fiscal Year, the Issuer shall cause an audit of its books and accounts to be made by the Legislative 

Auditor or an independent firm of certified public accountants showing the receipts and 

disbursements made by the Issuer during the previous Fiscal Year. Such audit shall be furnished 

to the Owner of any of the Bond who request the same. 

 

SECTION 12.  Application of Proceeds. The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, 

authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and incidental to carry out all of the 

provisions of this Ordinance, to cause the necessary Bond to be printed, to issue, execute and seal 

the Bond, and to effect delivery thereof as hereinafter provided. The proceeds derived from the 

sale of the Bond shall be deposited by the Issuer with the Paying Agent or its fiscal agent bank or 

banks in a special fund, hereby established and which may or may not be held in a separate bank 

account known as "Series 2021 Revenue Bonds Construction Fund." The proceeds of the Bond 

deposited in such fund and any earnings thereon shall be used only for the purpose for which the 

Bond are issued. 

 

SECTION 13.  Bond Legal Obligations. The Bond shall constitute legal, valid and binding 

obligations of the Issuer and shall be the only representations of the indebtedness as herein 

authorized and created. 

 

SECTION 14.  Ordinance a Contract. The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute 

a contract between the Issuer and the Owner or Owners from time to time of the Bond, and any 

such Owner or Owners may at law or in equity, by suit, action, mandamus or other proceedings, 

enforce and compel the performance of all duties required to be performed by this Governing 

Authority or the Issuer as a result of issuing the Bond. 

 

No material modification or amendment of this Ordinance, or of any ordinance amendatory 

hereof or supplemental hereto, may be made without the consent in writing of the Owners of 

two-thirds (2/3) of the aggregate principal amount of the Bond then outstanding; provided, 

however, that no modification or amendment shall permit a change in the maturity or redemption 

provisions of the Bond, or a reduction in the rate of interest thereon, or in the amount of the 

principal obligation thereof, or affecting the obligation of the Issuer to pay the principal of and the 

interest on the Bond as the same shall come due from the revenues appropriated, pledged and 

dedicated to the payment thereof by this Ordinance, or reduce the percentage of the Owners 

required to consent to any material modification or amendment of this Ordinance, without the 

consent of the Owners of the Bond. 

 

SECTION 15.  Severability; Application of Subsequently Enacted Laws. In case any 

one or more of the provisions of this Ordinance or of the Bond shall for any reason be held to be 

illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this Ordinance 

or of the Bond, but this Ordinance and the Bond shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal 

or invalid provisions had not been contained therein. Any constitutional or statutory provisions 

enacted after the date of this Ordinance which validate or make legal any provision of this 

49



 
 

 

Ordinance and/or the Bond which would not otherwise be valid or legal, shall be deemed to apply 

to this Ordinance and to the Bond. 

 

SECTION 16.  Recital of Regularity. This Governing Authority having investigated the 

regularity of the proceedings had in connection with the Bond and having determined the same to 

be regular, the Bond shall contain the following recital, to-wit: 

 

"It is certified that this Bond is authorized by and is issued in 

conformity with the requirements of the Constitution and statutes of 

the State of Louisiana." 

 

SECTION 17.  Effect of Registration. The Issuer, the Paying Agent, and any agent of 

either of them may treat the Owner in whose name any Bond is registered as the Owner of such 

Bond for the purpose of receiving payment of the principal of and interest on such Bond and for 

all other purposes whatsoever, and to the extent permitted by law, neither the Issuer, the Paying 

Agent, nor any agent of either of them shall be affected by notice to the contrary. 

 

SECTION 18.  Notices to Owners. Wherever this Ordinance provides for notice to Owners 

of Bond of any event, such notice shall be sufficiently given (unless otherwise herein expressly 

provided) if in writing and mailed, first- class postage prepaid, to each Owner of such Bond, at the 

address of such Owner as it appears in the Bond Register. In any case where notice to Owners of 

Bond is given by mail, neither the failure to mail such notice to any particular Owner of Bond, nor 

any defect in any notice so mailed, shall affect the sufficiency of such notice with respect to all 

other Bond.  Where this Ordinance provides for notice in any manner, such notice may be waived 

in writing by the Owner or Owners entitled to receive such notice, either before or after the event, 

and such waiver shall be the equivalent of such notice. Waivers of notice by Owners shall be filed 

with the Paying Agent, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any 

action taken in reliance upon such waiver. 

 

SECTION 19.  Cancellation of Bond. Any Bond surrendered for payment, redemption, 

transfer, exchange or replacement, if surrendered to the Paying Agent, shall be promptly canceled 

by it and, if surrendered to the Issuer, shall be delivered to the Paying Agent and, if not already 

canceled, shall be promptly canceled by the Paying Agent. The Issuer may at any time deliver to 

the Paying Agent for cancellation a Bond previously registered and delivered which the Issuer may 

have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and the Bond so delivered shall be promptly canceled 

by the Paying Agent.  The canceled Bond held by the Paying Agent shall be disposed of as directed 

in writing by the Issuer. 

 

SECTION 20.  Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bond. If (1) any mutilated Bond is 

surrendered to the Paying Agent, or the Issuer and the Paying Agent receive evidence to their 

satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any Bond, and (2) there is delivered to the Issuer and 

the Paying Agent such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them 

harmless, then, in the absence of notice to the Issuer or the Paying Agent that such Bond has been 

acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Issuer shall execute, and upon its request the Paying Agent 

shall register and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of any such mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen 

Bond, a new Bond of the same maturity and of like tenor, interest rate and principal amount, 

50



 
 

 

bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost 

or stolen Bond has become or is about to become due and payable, the Issuer in its discretion may, 

instead of issuing a new Bond, pay such Bond. Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this 

Section, the Issuer may require the payment by the Owner of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or 

other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses 

(including the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent) connected therewith. Every new Bond 

issued pursuant to this Section in lieu of any mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond shall 

constitute a replacement of the prior obligation of the Issuer, whether or not the mutilated, 

destroyed, lost or stolen Bond shall be at any time enforceable by anyone and shall be entitled to 

all the benefits of this Ordinance equally and ratably with all other bonds. Any additional 

procedures set forth in the Agreement, authorized in this Ordinance, shall also be available with 

respect to mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond. The provisions of this Section are exclusive 

and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights and remedies with respect to the 

replacement and payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond. 

 

SECTION 21.  Discharge of Ordinance; Defeasance. If the Issuer shall pay or cause to 

be paid to the Owners of all Bond then outstanding, the principal and interest to become due 

thereon, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Ordinance, then the covenants, 

agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Owners shall be discharged and satisfied. In 

such event, the Paying Agent shall, upon the request of the Issuer, execute and deliver to the Issuer 

all such instruments as may be desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction and the Paying 

Agent shall pay over or deliver to the Issuer all moneys, securities and funds held by them pursuant 

to the Ordinance which are not required for the payment of Bond not theretofore surrendered for 

such payment. 

 

Bond or interest installments for the payment of which money shall have been set aside 

and shall be held in trust (through deposit by the Issuer of funds for such payment or otherwise) at 

the maturity date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect 

expressed above in this Section.  Bond shall be deemed to have been paid, prior to their maturity, 

within the meaning and with the effect expressed above in this Section if they have been defeased 

pursuant to Chapter 14 of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, as amended, or any 

successor provisions thereto. 

 

SECTION 22.  Successor Paying Agent; Paying Agent Agreement.  The Issuer will at 

all times maintain a Paying Agent meeting the qualifications hereinafter described for the perfor-

mance of the duties hereunder for the Bond. The designation of the initial Paying Agent in this 

Ordinance is hereby confirmed and approved. The Issuer reserves the right to appoint a successor 

Paying Agent by (a) filing with the Person then performing such function a certified copy of a 

resolution or ordinance giving notice of the termination of the Agreement and appointing a 

successor and (b) causing notice to be given to each Owner. Every Paying Agent appointed 

hereunder shall at all times be a bank or trust company organized and doing business under the 

laws of the United States of America or of any state, authorized under such laws to exercise trust 

powers, and subject to supervision or examination by Federal or State authority. The Executive 

Officers are hereby authorized and directed to execute an appropriate Agreement with the Paying 

Agent for and on behalf of the Issuer in such form as may be satisfactory to said officers, the 

51



 
 

 

signatures of said officers on such Agreement to be conclusive evidence of the due exercise of the 

authority granted hereunder. 

 

SECTION 23.   Arbitrage. The Issuer covenants and agrees that, to the extent permitted 

by the laws of the State of Louisiana, it will comply with the requirements of the Code in order to 

establish, maintain and preserve the exclusion from "gross income" of interest on the Bond under 

the Code. The Issuer further covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, fail to take any 

action, or permit any action within its control to be taken, or permit at any time or times any of the 

proceeds of the Bond or any other funds of the Issuer to be used directly or indirectly in any 

manner, the effect of which would be to cause the Bond to be "arbitrage bonds" or would result in 

the inclusion of the interest on any of the Bond in gross income under the Code, including, without 

limitation, (i) the failure to comply with the limitation on investment of Bond proceeds (ii) the 

failure to pay any required rebate of arbitrage earnings to the United States of America or (iii) the 

use of the proceeds of the Bond in a manner which would cause the Bond to be "private activity 

bonds". 

 

The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, authorized and directed to take any and all 

action and to execute and deliver any instrument, document or certificate necessary to effectuate 

the purposes of this Section. 

 

SECTION 24. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations. The Bond is designated as a "qualified 

tax-exempt obligation" within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. In making this 

designation, the Issuer finds and determines that: 

 

(a) the Bond is not a "private activity bond" within the meaning of the Code; and 

 

(b) the reasonably anticipated amount of qualified tax-exempt obligations which 

will be issued by the Issuer and all subordinate entities in calendar year 2021 does 

not exceed $10,000,000.  

  

The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, authorized and directed to take any and all 

action and to execute and deliver any instrument, document or Bond necessary to effectuate the 

purposes of this Section. 

 

SECTION 25.  Continuing Disclosure. The Issuer will not be required to comply with the 

continuing disclosure requirements described in the Rule 15c-2-12(b) of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission [17 CFR '240.15c2-12(b)]. 

 

SECTION 26.  Publication; Recordation.  This Ordinance shall be published one time in 

the official journal of the Issuer; however, it shall not be necessary to publish any exhibits hereto 

if the same are available for public inspection and such fact is stated in the publication. 

  

52



 
 

 

SECTION 27.  Award of Bond. The Purchaser, by its acknowledgement attached as 

Exhibit A hereto, hereby offers to purchase the Bond in accordance with and pursuant to the terms 

of this Ordinance, and this Governing Authority hereby awards the sale of the Bond to the 

Purchaser. The Bond shall be delivered to the Purchaser upon the payment of the principal amount 

thereof. As a condition to the delivery of the Bond to the Purchaser, the Purchaser will execute a 

standard letter, acceptable to it and the Issuer, indicating it has conducted its own analysis with 

respect to the Bond and is purchasing the Bond as a vehicle for making a commercial loan to the 

Issuer. 

 

SECTION 28.  Compliance with Ordinance Authorizing Outstanding Parity Bonds.  

The Issuer finds and determines that it is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings 

required in the ordinance authorizing the Outstanding Parity Obligations. 

 

SECTION 29.  Post-Issuance Compliance.  The Executive Officers and/or their designees 

are directed to establish, continue, and/or amend, as applicable, written procedures to assist the 

Issuer in complying with various State and Federal statutes, rules and regulations applicable to the 

Bond and are further authorized to take any and all actions as may be required by said written 

procedures to ensure continued compliance with such statutes, rules and regulations throughout 

the term of the Bond. 

 

SECTION 30.  Section Headings.  The headings of the various sections hereof are inserted 

for convenience of reference only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of 

any of the provisions hereof. 

 

SECTION 31.  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon 

adoption. 

 

This Ordinance having been submitted to a vote, the vote thereon was as follows: 

 

YEAS:   

 

NAYS:  

 

ABSENT:   

 

And the Ordinance was declared adopted on this, the 5th day of October, 2021. 

 

 

                     /s/ Kathy Faulk                                     /s/ Mark Piazza               .                           

                        Clerk     Mayor 

53



 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 
  

 

  

54



 

       EXHIBIT B 

 

THE PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR IS DIRECTED NOT TO REGISTER ANY 

TRANSFER OF THIS BOND EXCEPT UPON THE EXECUTION OF THE 

ASSIGNMENT FORM HEREON BY BOTH THE CURRENT OWNER OF THIS BOND 

AND THE ASSIGNEE THEREOF. 

 

No. R-1 Principal Amount $3,000,000 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 

PARISH OF VERMILION 

 

REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2021 

CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA 

 

                                                                          Final   

  Bond   Maturity            Interest 

  Date        Date                 Rate   

 

        [October 28], 2021      March 1, 20[31]               1.75% 

 

The CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA (the "Issuer"), promises to pay, but solely 

from the source and as hereinafter provided, to: 

 

GULF COAST BANK 

ABBEVILLE, LOUISIANA 

 

or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date set forth above, the Principal Amount set forth above, 

together with interest thereon from the Bond Date set forth above or the most recent interest 

payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, payable on March1 and 

September 1 of each year calculated on a 30/360 basis, commencing March 1, 2022 (each an 

"Interest Payment Date"), at the Interest Rate per annum set forth above until said Principal 

Amount is paid, unless this Bond shall have been previously called for redemption and payment 

shall have been made or duly provided for. The principal of this Bond, upon maturity or redemp-

tion, is payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the designated office of Gulf 

Coast Bank, Abbeville, Louisiana, or successor thereto (the "Paying Agent"), upon presentation 

and surrender hereof. Interest on this Bond is payable by check mailed by the Paying Agent to the 

registered owner (determined as of the close of business on the 15th calendar day of the month next 

preceding each Interest Payment Date) at the address as shown on the registration books of the 

Paying Agent. 

 

This Bond comprises the entire issue aggregating in principal the sum of Three Million Dollars 

($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021 (the "Bond"), said Bond having been issued by the Issuer 

pursuant to an ordinance adopted by its governing authority on October 5, 2021 (the "Ordinance"), 

for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and improving recreational facilities and other works 

55



 

of public improvement of the Issuer and paying the costs of issuance of the Bond, under the 

authority conferred by Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised 

Statutes of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority. 

 

The unpaid principal of this Bond shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity in whole or in 

part at any time on or after March 1, 2026, at the option of the Issuer, at the redemption price equal 

to the principal amount of the Bond to be redeemed plus accrued interest on the Bond, if any, to 

the redemption date.  

 

Official notice of such call of all or any portion of the Bond for optional redemption will be given 

by first class mail, postage prepaid, by notice deposited in the United States mail, or by accepted 

means of electronic communication, not less than twenty (20) days prior to the redemption date 

addressed to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed at his address as shown on the 

registration books of the Paying Agent. The notice provided for any optional redemption may 

provide that such optional redemption is conditioned upon the availability of funds therefor. 

 

This Bond shall mature in installments without necessity of notice on March 1 in the years and in 

the principal amounts set forth below: 

 

       Year    Principal  

   (March 1)      Amount     

 2022 $             0 

 2023  310,000 

 2024  315,000 

 2025  320,000 

 2026  330,000 

 2027  335,000 

  2028  340,000 

 2029  345,000 

 2030  350,000 

 2031*  355,000 

 

           * Final Maturity 

 

The Issuer shall cause to be kept at the principal office of the Paying Agent a register (the "Bond 

Register") in which registration of the Bond and of transfers of the Bond shall be made as provided 

in the Ordinance. This Bond may be transferred, registered and assigned only on the Bond Register, 

and such registration shall be at the expense of the Issuer. This Bond may be assigned only by the 

execution by the Purchaser, any assignee and the Paying Agent/Registrar of the assignment form 

on the Bond. A new Bond will be delivered by the Paying Agent to the last assignee (the new 

registered owner) in exchange for this transferred and assigned Bond after receipt of this Bond to 

be transferred in proper form. Such new Bond shall be in the denomination of $100,000 or any 

integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof within a single maturity. The Paying Agent shall not 

be required to issue, register the transfer of, or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at 

the opening of business on a Record Date and ending at the close of business on the Interest 

Payment Date. 

56



 

This Bond is secured by and payable from the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above 

contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of the fiscal years during which the Bond is 

outstanding, as described in the Ordinance. The lien of the bonds on the excess of annual revenues 

of the Issuer shall be equal to that of the Issuer's (i) Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, 

and (ii) Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (the "Outstanding Parity Bonds"). The Issuer has covenanted 

and agreed to budget annually a sum of money sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on 

this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and to levy and 

collect in each year service charges and to collect other revenues within the limits prescribed by 

law, sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity 

Bonds after the payment in such years of all such statutory, necessary and usual charges. The 

Issuer, in the Ordinance has also entered into certain other covenants and agreements with the 

registered owner of this Bond, including a provision for the issuance of pari passu obligations on 

a parity with the Bond for the terms of which reference is made to the Ordinance. 

 

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security 

or benefit under the Ordinance until the certificate of registration hereon shall have been signed 

by the Paying Agent. 

 

It is certified that this Bond is authorized by and is issued in conformity with the requirements of 

the Constitution and statutes of the State of Louisiana.  It is further certified, recited and declared 

that all acts, conditions and things required to exist, to happen and to be performed precedent to 

and in the issuance of this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part, to constitute the same legal, 

binding and valid obligations of the Issuer have existed, have happened and have been performed 

in due time, form and manner as required by law, and that the indebtedness of the Issuer, including 

this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part, does not exceed the limitations prescribed by the 

Constitution and statutes of the State of Louisiana. 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank] 

  

57



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana, acting as the governing 

authority of the Issuer, has caused this Bond to be executed in the name of the Issuer by the manual 

signatures of its Mayor and its Clerk, and the corporate seal of the Issuer to be impressed hereon. 

 

CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA 

 

_______________________________                                __________________________________ 

Clerk Mayor 

[SEAL] 

 

*    *    *    *    *    * 

 

(FORM OF PAYING AGENT=S CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION) 

 

This Bond is the Bond referred to in the within-mentioned Ordinance. 

   

GULF COAST BANK 

Abbeville, Louisiana 

as Paying Agent 

 

Date of Registration: _________, 2021. By: ________________________________ 

 Authorized Officer 

 

*    *    *    *    *    * 

 

(FORM OF ASSIGNMENT) 

 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Assignor hereby sells, assigns and transfers 

the within bond and all rights thereunder unto the following Assignee: 

Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Address: ______________________________________________________________________, 

who by its execution below hereby certifies to the Paying Agent that (a) it is (i) an affiliate of the 

original owner of this Bond, or (ii) a bank, or entity directly or indirectly controlled by a bank, or 

under common control with a bank, other than a broker dealer or municipal securities dealer, which 

certifies that it is a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended, and (b) it consents to the terms of the Purchaser Letter executed by the original 

owner of this Bond as referenced in the Ordinance. 

 

___________________________, Assignee            ____________________________, Assignor 

 

By: ______________________________        By:_______________________________ 

Its: ______________________________        Its:  ______________________________  

Date:______________________

58



 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 

PARISH OF VERMILION 

 

I, the undersigned Clerk of the City Council of the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana 

(the "City Council"), acting as the governing authority of the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana 

(the "City") do hereby certify that the foregoing pages constitute a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 21-07 adopted by the City Council on October 5, 2021, providing for the incurring 

of debt and issuance of the Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, of the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for other matters in connection therewith. 

IN FAITH WHEREOF, witness my official signature on this, the 5th day of October, 2021.

    

    

  ____________________________________ 

  Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



The following ordinance having been introduced at a meeting on September 21, 2021, was 

offered by ____________ and seconded by _____________: 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 21-07               

 

An ordinance providing for the incurring of debt and issuance of the 

Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, of the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for other matters in 

connection therewith. 

 

WHEREAS, Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes 

of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority (the "Act"), authorizes the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana (the "Issuer") to make and enter into contracts dedicating the 

excess of annual revenues of subsequent years, from any source, above contractual, necessary and 

usual charges; and 

 

WHEREAS, for the current fiscal year the Issuer anticipates an excess of revenues over 

contractual, necessary and usual charges and all other expenses for such fiscal year, sufficient to 

meet the maximum principal and interest requirements in any future year on the Revenue Bond, 

Series 2021, authorized herein (the "Bond") and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, as defined herein, 

and the Issuer will herein obligate itself and its successors in office to budget and set aside annually 

adequate funds for the payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, as defined herein; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with the foregoing, the Issuer now desires to 

incur debt and issue its Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, in the 

manner authorized and provided by the Act, for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and 

improving recreational facilities and other works of public improvement of the Issuer and paying 

the costs of issuance of the Bond; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is not now a party to any contract pledging or dedicating its excess 

of annual revenues above contractual, necessary and usual charges, other than its (i) Revenue and 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, and (ii) Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (collectively, the 

"Outstanding Parity Bonds"); and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Issuer to fix the details necessary with respect to the 

issuance of the Bond and to provide for the authorization and issuance thereof; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the further desire of the Issuer to provide for the sale of the Bond to the 

Purchaser (hereinafter defined) as hereinafter provided;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Abbeville, 

State of Louisiana, acting as the governing authority of the Issuer: 

 

SECTION 1.  Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following 

meanings, unless the context otherwise requires: 

60



 
 

 

"Act"  shall mean Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised 

Statutes of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority. 

 

"Additional Parity Obligations" shall mean any pari passu additional obligations 

hereafter issued by the Issuer on a parity with the Bond, with respect to the excess of annual 

revenues of the Issuer, all as provided herein. 

 

"Agreement" shall mean the agreement to be entered into between the Issuer and the 

Paying Agent pursuant to this Ordinance. 

 

"Bond" shall mean the Issuer's Revenue Bond, Series 2021, authorized by this Ordinance, 

in the total aggregate principal amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000), whether initially 

delivered or issued in exchange for, upon transfer of, or in lieu of any bond previously issued. 

 

"Bond Counsel" shall mean Foley & Judell, L.L.P., or another attorney or firm of 

attorneys whose experience in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by states and their 

political subdivision is nationally recognized. 

 

"Bond Register" shall mean the records kept by the Paying Agent, hereinafter defined, at 

their principal corporate office in which registration of the Bond and transfers of the Bond shall 

be made as provided herein. 

 

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 

"Executive Officers" shall mean, collectively, the Mayor and City Clerk of the Governing 

Authority. 

 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the one-year accounting period commencing on January 1st of 

each year, or such other period as may be designated by the Governing Authority as the fiscal year 

of the Issuer. 

 

"Governing Authority" shall mean the City Council of the City of Abbeville, State of 

Louisiana, or its successor in function. 

 

"Government Securities" shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of 

and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, which are 

non-callable prior to their maturity, may be United States Treasury obligations such as the State 

and Local Government Series and may be in book-entry form. 

 

"Interest Payment Date" shall mean March 1 and September 1 of each year during which 

the Bond is outstanding, commencing on March 1, 2022. 

 

"Issuer" or "City" shall mean the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana. 

 

"Ordinance" shall mean this ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bond, as it may be 

supplemented and amended. 

61



 
 

 

"Outstanding" when used with respect to the Bond shall mean, as of the date of 

determination, any Bond or portion thereof theretofore issued and delivered under this Ordinance, 

except: 

 

1. Any Bond theretofore canceled by the Paying Agent or delivered to the 

Paying Agent for cancellation; 

 

2. Any Bond or portion thereof for which payment sufficient funds or 

government securities, or both, have been theretofore deposited in trust for the 

owners of such Bond with the effect specified in this Ordinance or by law;  

 

3. Any Bond in exchange for or in lieu of which another Bond has been 

registered and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance; and 

 

4. Any Bond alleged to have been mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen which 

may have been paid as provided in this Ordinance or by law.  

 

"Outstanding Parity Bonds" collectively, shall mean the Issuer's Revenue and Refunding 

Bonds, Series 2012 and Revenue Bonds, Series 2016. 

 

"Owner" or "Owners" when used with respect to any Bond, shall mean the Person in 

whose name such Bond is registered in the Bond Register. 

 

"Paying Agent" shall mean Gulf Coast Bank, in Abbeville, Louisiana, as paying agent 

and registrar hereunder, until a successor Paying Agent shall have become such pursuant to the 

applicable provisions of the Ordinance, and thereafter "Paying Agent" shall mean such successor 

Paying Agent.   

 

"Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, 

joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political 

subdivision thereof. 

 

"Purchaser" shall mean Gulf Coast Bank, in Abbeville, Louisiana, purchaser of the Bond. 

 

"Record Date" for the interest payable on any Interest Payment Date, shall mean the 15th 

calendar day of the month next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

SECTION 2.  Authorization of Bond; Maturities. In compliance with the terms and 

provisions of the Act, there is hereby authorized the incurring of an indebtedness of Three Million 

Dollars ($3,000,000) for, on behalf of, and in the name of the Issuer, for the purpose of acquiring, 

constructing, and improving recreational facilities and other works of public improvement of the 

Issuer and paying the costs of issuance of the Bond, and to represent said indebtedness this Govern-

ing Authority does hereby authorize the issuance of its Revenue Bond, Series 2021, in the principal 

amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000). The Bond shall be initially issued in the form of a 

single, fully-registered bond, dated the date of delivery thereof, numbered R-1 and in the aggregate 

principal amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000). The Bond shall bear interest from the 

62



 
 

 

dated date thereof or from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid 

or duly provided for, such interest to be payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 of 

each year, commencing March 1, 2022, at the rate of 1.75% per annum, said interest to be 

calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, and shall mature in 

installments as described in Section 3 below. 

 

The principal of and interest on the Bond, upon final maturity or redemption in whole, shall 

be payable at the principal office of the Paying Agent, upon presentation and surrender thereof. 

All other payments of principal and interest on the Bond shall be payable by check of the Paying 

Agent mailed by the Paying Agent to the Owner (determined as of the close of business on the 

Record Date) at the address shown on the Bond Register. Each Bond delivered under this 

Ordinance upon transfer of, in exchange for or in lieu of any other Bond shall carry all the rights 

to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, which were carried by such other Bond, and each 

such Bond shall bear interest (as herein set forth) so neither gain nor loss in interest shall result 

from such transfer, exchange or substitution. 

 

No Bond shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Ordinance, or be valid or obliga-

tory for any purpose, unless there appears on such Bond a certificate of registration, substantially 

in the form provided in this Ordinance, executed by the Paying Agent by manual signature. 

 

The Bond is hereby issued on a parity with the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and the Bond 

shall rank equally with and enjoy complete parity of lien with the Outstanding Parity Bonds on the 

excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of 

the fiscal years during which the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds are outstanding.  It is 

certified that the Issuer has complied with, or will comply with prior to the issuance of the Bond, 

all the terms and conditions for the issuance of pari passu certificates of indebtedness set forth in 

the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Outstanding Parity Bonds. 

 

SECTION 3. Installment Payments. The Bond shall mature in installments without 

necessity of notice on March 1 in the years and in the principal amounts set forth below: 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank]

63



       Year    Principal  

   (March 1)      Amount     

 2022 $             0 

 2023  310,000 

 2024  315,000 

 2025  320,000 

 2026  330,000 

 2027  335,000 

  2028  340,000 

 2029  345,000 

 2030  350,000 

 2031*  355,000 

 

           * Final Maturity 

 

SECTION 4.  Redemption Provisions. The unpaid principal of the Bond shall be subject 

to redemption prior to maturity in whole or in part at any time on or after March 1, 2026, at the 

option of the Issuer, at the redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Bond to be 

redeemed plus accrued interest on the Bond, if any, to the redemption date.  

 

 Official notice of such call of all or any portion of the Bond for optional redemption will 

be given by first class mail, postage prepaid, by notice deposited in the United States mail, or by 

accepted means of electronic communication, not less than twenty (20) days prior to the 

redemption date addressed to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed at his address as 

shown on the registration books of the Paying Agent. The notice provided for any optional 

redemption may provide that such optional redemption is conditioned upon the availability of 

funds therefor. 

 

SECTION 5.  Registration and Transfer.  The Issuer shall cause the Bond Register to be 

kept by the Paying Agent.  Bonds may be transferred, registered and assigned only on the Bond 

Register, which such registration shall be at the expense of the Issuer, and only by the execution 

of and compliance with the assignment form on the Bond being transferred. A new Bond may, 

upon request, be delivered by the Paying Agent to the last assignee (the new Owner) in exchange 

for such transferred and assigned Bond after receipt of the Bond to be transferred in proper form. 

Such new Bond shall be in the denomination of $100,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in 

excess thereof within a single maturity. The Paying Agent shall not be required to issue, register 

the transfer of, or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business on a 

Record Date and ending at the close of business on the Interest Payment Date. 

 

SECTION 6.  Form of Bond. The Bond and the endorsements to appear thereon shall be 

in substantially the following form set forth in Exhibit B hereto. 

 

SECTION 7.  Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be signed by the Executive Officers 

for, on behalf of, in the name of and under the corporate seal of the Issuer, which signatures and 

corporate seal may be either manual or facsimile. 

 

64



 
 

 

SECTION 8.  Pledge and Dedication of Revenues.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, 

the Bond shall be secured by and payable from the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above 

contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of the fiscal years during which the Bond is 

outstanding. The lien of the bonds on the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer shall be equal to 

that of the Outstanding Parity Bonds. There is hereby irrevocably pledged and dedicated to the 

payment of the Bond an amount of such excess of annual revenues sufficient to pay same in 

principal and interest as they respectively mature. Until the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds 

shall have been paid in full in principal and interest, this Governing Authority does hereby obligate 

the Issuer, itself and its successors in office, to budget annually a sum of money sufficient to pay 

the principal of and interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, including any principal 

and/or interest theretofore matured and then unpaid, and to levy and collect in each year taxes and 

to collect other revenues, within the limits prescribed by law, sufficient to pay the principal of and 

the interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds after payment in such years of all the 

said statutory, necessary and usual charges of the Issuer for the then current year. No further or 

additional pledges or dedications of the aforesaid excess of annual revenues shall be made which 

shall have priority over or parity with the pledge and dedication of such revenues herein made, 

except as provided in Section 10 hereof.  

 

SECTION 9.  Sinking Fund. (a) For the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, the Issuer shall maintain a special fund known as the 

"Refunding and Revenue Bonds (2012) Sinking Fund," (the "Sinking Fund"), said Sinking Fund to 

be established and  maintained with the Paying Agent or regularly designated fiscal agent bank of 

the Issuer.  For the payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, the Issuer shall deposit 

in the Sinking Fund at least three (3) days in advance of the date on which each payment of 

principal and/or interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds falls due, funds fully 

sufficient to promptly pay the maturing principal and/or interest falling due on such date. Said 

fiscal agent bank or banks shall make available from the Sinking Fund to the Paying Agent at least 

one (1) day in advance of the date on which each payment of principal and interest on the Bond 

falls due, funds fully sufficient to pay promptly the principal and interest, if any, falling due on 

such date. 

 

(b) It shall be specifically understood and agreed, however, and this provision shall be 

a part of this contract, that after the funds have actually been budgeted out of the revenues of any 

Fiscal Year sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity 

Bonds for that Fiscal Year, then any excess of annual revenues remaining in that Fiscal Year shall 

be free for expenditure by the Issuer for any other lawful corporate purpose. 

 

(c) All moneys deposited with the regularly designated fiscal agent bank or banks of 

the Issuer or the Paying Agent under the terms of this Ordinance shall constitute sacred funds for 

the benefit of the Owners of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and shall be secured by 

said fiduciaries at all times to the full extent thereof in the manner required by law for the securing 

of deposits of public funds. 

 

  (d) All or any part of the moneys in the Sinking Fund shall, at the written request of 

the Issuer, be invested in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of Louisiana, in 

65



 
 

 

which event all income derived from such investments shall be added to the General Fund of the 

Issuer.  

 

SECTION 10.  Additional Parity Obligations. The Issuer shall issue no other bonds or 

obligations of any kind or nature payable from or enjoying a lien on the excess of annual revenues 

of the Issuer above the said statutory, necessary and usual charges, having priority over or parity 

with the Bond herein authorized except that Additional Parity Obligations may hereafter be issued 

on a parity with the Bond under the following conditions: 

 

(a) The net excess of annual revenues of the Issuer (excess of revenues over 

expenditures, which shall include any fund balance carried forward from a 

prior year), for the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the issuance of 

Additional Parity Obligations must have been not less than 1.10 times the 

highest annual debt service requirements in any succeeding Fiscal Year on 

all obligations then outstanding, including the Outstanding Parity Bonds 

and any Additional Parity Obligations theretofore issued and then 

outstanding which are payable from the excess of general revenues of the 

Issuer (but not including obligations which have been refunded or 

provisions otherwise made for their full and complete payment and 

redemption), and the Additional Parity Obligations so proposed to be 

issued; 

 

(b) The Issuer shall be in full compliance with all covenants and undertakings 

in connection with the Bond, and there are no delinquencies in payments 

required to be made to the Sinking Fund established and maintained for the 

security and payment of the Bond and the Outstanding Parity Bonds; 

 

(c) The existence of the facts required by the foregoing paragraphs (a) and (b) 

must be determined and certified by the Executive Officers; and 

 

(d) The Additional Parity Obligations must be payable as to principal on March 

1 of each year in which principal becomes due, and interest thereon must be 

payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year following the date 

thereof. 

 

In addition to the foregoing, the Bond, the Outstanding Parity Bonds, or any part hereof, 

including interest thereon, may be refunded and the refunding bonds so issued shall enjoy whatever 

priority of lien over subsequent issues may have been enjoyed by the Bond refunded; provided, 

however, that if only a portion of the Bond outstanding is so refunded and if the refunding bonds 

require principal and interest payments during any year in excess of the principal and interest 

which would have been required to pay the Bond refunded thereby, then such Bond may not be 

refunded without the consent of the Owners of the unrefunded portion of the Bond, Outstanding 

Parity Bonds and any Additional Parity Obligations (provided such consent shall not be required 

if such refunding bonds meet the requirements set forth elsewhere in this section).   

66



 
 

 

SECTION 11. Budget; Audit. As long as the Bond or any portion thereof is Outstanding, 

the Issuer shall prepare and adopt a budget prior to the beginning of each Fiscal Year and shall, 

upon request, furnish a copy of such budget within thirty (30) days after its adoption to the Owners 

of any of the Bond who request the same. Not later than six (6) months after the close of each 

Fiscal Year, the Issuer shall cause an audit of its books and accounts to be made by the Legislative 

Auditor or an independent firm of certified public accountants showing the receipts and 

disbursements made by the Issuer during the previous Fiscal Year. Such audit shall be furnished 

to the Owner of any of the Bond who request the same. 

 

SECTION 12.  Application of Proceeds. The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, 

authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and incidental to carry out all of the 

provisions of this Ordinance, to cause the necessary Bond to be printed, to issue, execute and seal 

the Bond, and to effect delivery thereof as hereinafter provided. The proceeds derived from the 

sale of the Bond shall be deposited by the Issuer with the Paying Agent or its fiscal agent bank or 

banks in a special fund, hereby established and which may or may not be held in a separate bank 

account known as "Series 2021 Revenue Bonds Construction Fund." The proceeds of the Bond 

deposited in such fund and any earnings thereon shall be used only for the purpose for which the 

Bond are issued. 

 

SECTION 13.  Bond Legal Obligations. The Bond shall constitute legal, valid and binding 

obligations of the Issuer and shall be the only representations of the indebtedness as herein 

authorized and created. 

 

SECTION 14.  Ordinance a Contract. The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute 

a contract between the Issuer and the Owner or Owners from time to time of the Bond, and any 

such Owner or Owners may at law or in equity, by suit, action, mandamus or other proceedings, 

enforce and compel the performance of all duties required to be performed by this Governing 

Authority or the Issuer as a result of issuing the Bond. 

 

No material modification or amendment of this Ordinance, or of any ordinance amendatory 

hereof or supplemental hereto, may be made without the consent in writing of the Owners of 

two-thirds (2/3) of the aggregate principal amount of the Bond then outstanding; provided, 

however, that no modification or amendment shall permit a change in the maturity or redemption 

provisions of the Bond, or a reduction in the rate of interest thereon, or in the amount of the 

principal obligation thereof, or affecting the obligation of the Issuer to pay the principal of and the 

interest on the Bond as the same shall come due from the revenues appropriated, pledged and 

dedicated to the payment thereof by this Ordinance, or reduce the percentage of the Owners 

required to consent to any material modification or amendment of this Ordinance, without the 

consent of the Owners of the Bond. 

 

SECTION 15.  Severability; Application of Subsequently Enacted Laws. In case any 

one or more of the provisions of this Ordinance or of the Bond shall for any reason be held to be 

illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this Ordinance 

or of the Bond, but this Ordinance and the Bond shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal 

or invalid provisions had not been contained therein. Any constitutional or statutory provisions 

enacted after the date of this Ordinance which validate or make legal any provision of this 

67



 
 

 

Ordinance and/or the Bond which would not otherwise be valid or legal, shall be deemed to apply 

to this Ordinance and to the Bond. 

 

SECTION 16.  Recital of Regularity. This Governing Authority having investigated the 

regularity of the proceedings had in connection with the Bond and having determined the same to 

be regular, the Bond shall contain the following recital, to-wit: 

 

"It is certified that this Bond is authorized by and is issued in 

conformity with the requirements of the Constitution and statutes of 

the State of Louisiana." 

 

SECTION 17.  Effect of Registration. The Issuer, the Paying Agent, and any agent of 

either of them may treat the Owner in whose name any Bond is registered as the Owner of such 

Bond for the purpose of receiving payment of the principal of and interest on such Bond and for 

all other purposes whatsoever, and to the extent permitted by law, neither the Issuer, the Paying 

Agent, nor any agent of either of them shall be affected by notice to the contrary. 

 

SECTION 18.  Notices to Owners. Wherever this Ordinance provides for notice to Owners 

of Bond of any event, such notice shall be sufficiently given (unless otherwise herein expressly 

provided) if in writing and mailed, first- class postage prepaid, to each Owner of such Bond, at the 

address of such Owner as it appears in the Bond Register. In any case where notice to Owners of 

Bond is given by mail, neither the failure to mail such notice to any particular Owner of Bond, nor 

any defect in any notice so mailed, shall affect the sufficiency of such notice with respect to all 

other Bond.  Where this Ordinance provides for notice in any manner, such notice may be waived 

in writing by the Owner or Owners entitled to receive such notice, either before or after the event, 

and such waiver shall be the equivalent of such notice. Waivers of notice by Owners shall be filed 

with the Paying Agent, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any 

action taken in reliance upon such waiver. 

 

SECTION 19.  Cancellation of Bond. Any Bond surrendered for payment, redemption, 

transfer, exchange or replacement, if surrendered to the Paying Agent, shall be promptly canceled 

by it and, if surrendered to the Issuer, shall be delivered to the Paying Agent and, if not already 

canceled, shall be promptly canceled by the Paying Agent. The Issuer may at any time deliver to 

the Paying Agent for cancellation a Bond previously registered and delivered which the Issuer may 

have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and the Bond so delivered shall be promptly canceled 

by the Paying Agent.  The canceled Bond held by the Paying Agent shall be disposed of as directed 

in writing by the Issuer. 

 

SECTION 20.  Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bond. If (1) any mutilated Bond is 

surrendered to the Paying Agent, or the Issuer and the Paying Agent receive evidence to their 

satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any Bond, and (2) there is delivered to the Issuer and 

the Paying Agent such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them 

harmless, then, in the absence of notice to the Issuer or the Paying Agent that such Bond has been 

acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Issuer shall execute, and upon its request the Paying Agent 

shall register and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of any such mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen 

Bond, a new Bond of the same maturity and of like tenor, interest rate and principal amount, 

68



 
 

 

bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost 

or stolen Bond has become or is about to become due and payable, the Issuer in its discretion may, 

instead of issuing a new Bond, pay such Bond. Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this 

Section, the Issuer may require the payment by the Owner of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or 

other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses 

(including the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent) connected therewith. Every new Bond 

issued pursuant to this Section in lieu of any mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond shall 

constitute a replacement of the prior obligation of the Issuer, whether or not the mutilated, 

destroyed, lost or stolen Bond shall be at any time enforceable by anyone and shall be entitled to 

all the benefits of this Ordinance equally and ratably with all other bonds. Any additional 

procedures set forth in the Agreement, authorized in this Ordinance, shall also be available with 

respect to mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond. The provisions of this Section are exclusive 

and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights and remedies with respect to the 

replacement and payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond. 

 

SECTION 21.  Discharge of Ordinance; Defeasance. If the Issuer shall pay or cause to 

be paid to the Owners of all Bond then outstanding, the principal and interest to become due 

thereon, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Ordinance, then the covenants, 

agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Owners shall be discharged and satisfied. In 

such event, the Paying Agent shall, upon the request of the Issuer, execute and deliver to the Issuer 

all such instruments as may be desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction and the Paying 

Agent shall pay over or deliver to the Issuer all moneys, securities and funds held by them pursuant 

to the Ordinance which are not required for the payment of Bond not theretofore surrendered for 

such payment. 

 

Bond or interest installments for the payment of which money shall have been set aside 

and shall be held in trust (through deposit by the Issuer of funds for such payment or otherwise) at 

the maturity date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect 

expressed above in this Section.  Bond shall be deemed to have been paid, prior to their maturity, 

within the meaning and with the effect expressed above in this Section if they have been defeased 

pursuant to Chapter 14 of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, as amended, or any 

successor provisions thereto. 

 

SECTION 22.  Successor Paying Agent; Paying Agent Agreement.  The Issuer will at 

all times maintain a Paying Agent meeting the qualifications hereinafter described for the perfor-

mance of the duties hereunder for the Bond. The designation of the initial Paying Agent in this 

Ordinance is hereby confirmed and approved. The Issuer reserves the right to appoint a successor 

Paying Agent by (a) filing with the Person then performing such function a certified copy of a 

resolution or ordinance giving notice of the termination of the Agreement and appointing a 

successor and (b) causing notice to be given to each Owner. Every Paying Agent appointed 

hereunder shall at all times be a bank or trust company organized and doing business under the 

laws of the United States of America or of any state, authorized under such laws to exercise trust 

powers, and subject to supervision or examination by Federal or State authority. The Executive 

Officers are hereby authorized and directed to execute an appropriate Agreement with the Paying 

Agent for and on behalf of the Issuer in such form as may be satisfactory to said officers, the 

69



 
 

 

signatures of said officers on such Agreement to be conclusive evidence of the due exercise of the 

authority granted hereunder. 

 

SECTION 23.   Arbitrage. The Issuer covenants and agrees that, to the extent permitted 

by the laws of the State of Louisiana, it will comply with the requirements of the Code in order to 

establish, maintain and preserve the exclusion from "gross income" of interest on the Bond under 

the Code. The Issuer further covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, fail to take any 

action, or permit any action within its control to be taken, or permit at any time or times any of the 

proceeds of the Bond or any other funds of the Issuer to be used directly or indirectly in any 

manner, the effect of which would be to cause the Bond to be "arbitrage bonds" or would result in 

the inclusion of the interest on any of the Bond in gross income under the Code, including, without 

limitation, (i) the failure to comply with the limitation on investment of Bond proceeds (ii) the 

failure to pay any required rebate of arbitrage earnings to the United States of America or (iii) the 

use of the proceeds of the Bond in a manner which would cause the Bond to be "private activity 

bonds". 

 

The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, authorized and directed to take any and all 

action and to execute and deliver any instrument, document or certificate necessary to effectuate 

the purposes of this Section. 

 

SECTION 24. Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations. The Bond is designated as a "qualified 

tax-exempt obligation" within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. In making this 

designation, the Issuer finds and determines that: 

 

(a) the Bond is not a "private activity bond" within the meaning of the Code; and 

 

(b) the reasonably anticipated amount of qualified tax-exempt obligations which 

will be issued by the Issuer and all subordinate entities in calendar year 2021 does 

not exceed $10,000,000.  

  

The Executive Officers are hereby empowered, authorized and directed to take any and all 

action and to execute and deliver any instrument, document or Bond necessary to effectuate the 

purposes of this Section. 

 

SECTION 25.  Continuing Disclosure. The Issuer will not be required to comply with the 

continuing disclosure requirements described in the Rule 15c-2-12(b) of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission [17 CFR '240.15c2-12(b)]. 

 

SECTION 26.  Publication; Recordation.  This Ordinance shall be published one time in 

the official journal of the Issuer; however, it shall not be necessary to publish any exhibits hereto 

if the same are available for public inspection and such fact is stated in the publication. 

  

70



 
 

 

SECTION 27.  Award of Bond. The Purchaser, by its acknowledgement attached as 

Exhibit A hereto, hereby offers to purchase the Bond in accordance with and pursuant to the terms 

of this Ordinance, and this Governing Authority hereby awards the sale of the Bond to the 

Purchaser. The Bond shall be delivered to the Purchaser upon the payment of the principal amount 

thereof. As a condition to the delivery of the Bond to the Purchaser, the Purchaser will execute a 

standard letter, acceptable to it and the Issuer, indicating it has conducted its own analysis with 

respect to the Bond and is purchasing the Bond as a vehicle for making a commercial loan to the 

Issuer. 

 

SECTION 28.  Compliance with Ordinance Authorizing Outstanding Parity Bonds.  

The Issuer finds and determines that it is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings 

required in the ordinance authorizing the Outstanding Parity Obligations. 

 

SECTION 29.  Post-Issuance Compliance.  The Executive Officers and/or their designees 

are directed to establish, continue, and/or amend, as applicable, written procedures to assist the 

Issuer in complying with various State and Federal statutes, rules and regulations applicable to the 

Bond and are further authorized to take any and all actions as may be required by said written 

procedures to ensure continued compliance with such statutes, rules and regulations throughout 

the term of the Bond. 

 

SECTION 30.  Section Headings.  The headings of the various sections hereof are inserted 

for convenience of reference only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of 

any of the provisions hereof. 

 

SECTION 31.  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon 

adoption. 

 

This Ordinance having been submitted to a vote, the vote thereon was as follows: 

 

YEAS:   

 

NAYS:  

 

ABSENT:   

 

And the Ordinance was declared adopted on this, the 5th day of October, 2021. 

 

 

                     /s/ Kathy Faulk                                     /s/ Mark Piazza               .                           

                        Clerk     Mayor 

71



 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 
  

 

  

72



 

       EXHIBIT B 

 

THE PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR IS DIRECTED NOT TO REGISTER ANY 

TRANSFER OF THIS BOND EXCEPT UPON THE EXECUTION OF THE 

ASSIGNMENT FORM HEREON BY BOTH THE CURRENT OWNER OF THIS BOND 

AND THE ASSIGNEE THEREOF. 

 

No. R-1 Principal Amount $3,000,000 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 

PARISH OF VERMILION 

 

REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2021 

CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA 

 

                                                                          Final   

  Bond   Maturity            Interest 

  Date        Date                 Rate   

 

        [October 28], 2021      March 1, 20[31]               1.75% 

 

The CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA (the "Issuer"), promises to pay, but solely 

from the source and as hereinafter provided, to: 

 

GULF COAST BANK 

ABBEVILLE, LOUISIANA 

 

or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date set forth above, the Principal Amount set forth above, 

together with interest thereon from the Bond Date set forth above or the most recent interest 

payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, payable on March1 and 

September 1 of each year calculated on a 30/360 basis, commencing March 1, 2022 (each an 

"Interest Payment Date"), at the Interest Rate per annum set forth above until said Principal 

Amount is paid, unless this Bond shall have been previously called for redemption and payment 

shall have been made or duly provided for. The principal of this Bond, upon maturity or redemp-

tion, is payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the designated office of Gulf 

Coast Bank, Abbeville, Louisiana, or successor thereto (the "Paying Agent"), upon presentation 

and surrender hereof. Interest on this Bond is payable by check mailed by the Paying Agent to the 

registered owner (determined as of the close of business on the 15th calendar day of the month next 

preceding each Interest Payment Date) at the address as shown on the registration books of the 

Paying Agent. 

 

This Bond comprises the entire issue aggregating in principal the sum of Three Million Dollars 

($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021 (the "Bond"), said Bond having been issued by the Issuer 

pursuant to an ordinance adopted by its governing authority on October 5, 2021 (the "Ordinance"), 

for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and improving recreational facilities and other works 

73



 

of public improvement of the Issuer and paying the costs of issuance of the Bond, under the 

authority conferred by Part II of Chapter 4 of Subtitle II of Title 39 of the Louisiana Revised 

Statutes of 1950, as amended, and other constitutional and statutory authority. 

 

The unpaid principal of this Bond shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity in whole or in 

part at any time on or after March 1, 2026, at the option of the Issuer, at the redemption price equal 

to the principal amount of the Bond to be redeemed plus accrued interest on the Bond, if any, to 

the redemption date.  

 

Official notice of such call of all or any portion of the Bond for optional redemption will be given 

by first class mail, postage prepaid, by notice deposited in the United States mail, or by accepted 

means of electronic communication, not less than twenty (20) days prior to the redemption date 

addressed to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed at his address as shown on the 

registration books of the Paying Agent. The notice provided for any optional redemption may 

provide that such optional redemption is conditioned upon the availability of funds therefor. 

 

This Bond shall mature in installments without necessity of notice on March 1 in the years and in 

the principal amounts set forth below: 

 

       Year    Principal  

   (March 1)      Amount     

 2022 $             0 

 2023  310,000 

 2024  315,000 

 2025  320,000 

 2026  330,000 

 2027  335,000 

  2028  340,000 

 2029  345,000 

 2030  350,000 

 2031*  355,000 

 

           * Final Maturity 

 

The Issuer shall cause to be kept at the principal office of the Paying Agent a register (the "Bond 

Register") in which registration of the Bond and of transfers of the Bond shall be made as provided 

in the Ordinance. This Bond may be transferred, registered and assigned only on the Bond Register, 

and such registration shall be at the expense of the Issuer. This Bond may be assigned only by the 

execution by the Purchaser, any assignee and the Paying Agent/Registrar of the assignment form 

on the Bond. A new Bond will be delivered by the Paying Agent to the last assignee (the new 

registered owner) in exchange for this transferred and assigned Bond after receipt of this Bond to 

be transferred in proper form. Such new Bond shall be in the denomination of $100,000 or any 

integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof within a single maturity. The Paying Agent shall not 

be required to issue, register the transfer of, or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at 

the opening of business on a Record Date and ending at the close of business on the Interest 

Payment Date. 

74



 

This Bond is secured by and payable from the excess of annual revenues of the Issuer above 

contractual, necessary and usual charges in each of the fiscal years during which the Bond is 

outstanding, as described in the Ordinance. The lien of the bonds on the excess of annual revenues 

of the Issuer shall be equal to that of the Issuer's (i) Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, 

and (ii) Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (the "Outstanding Parity Bonds"). The Issuer has covenanted 

and agreed to budget annually a sum of money sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on 

this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part and the Outstanding Parity Bonds, and to levy and 

collect in each year service charges and to collect other revenues within the limits prescribed by 

law, sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bond and the Outstanding Parity 

Bonds after the payment in such years of all such statutory, necessary and usual charges. The 

Issuer, in the Ordinance has also entered into certain other covenants and agreements with the 

registered owner of this Bond, including a provision for the issuance of pari passu obligations on 

a parity with the Bond for the terms of which reference is made to the Ordinance. 

 

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security 

or benefit under the Ordinance until the certificate of registration hereon shall have been signed 

by the Paying Agent. 

 

It is certified that this Bond is authorized by and is issued in conformity with the requirements of 

the Constitution and statutes of the State of Louisiana.  It is further certified, recited and declared 

that all acts, conditions and things required to exist, to happen and to be performed precedent to 

and in the issuance of this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part, to constitute the same legal, 

binding and valid obligations of the Issuer have existed, have happened and have been performed 

in due time, form and manner as required by law, and that the indebtedness of the Issuer, including 

this Bond and the issue of which it forms a part, does not exceed the limitations prescribed by the 

Constitution and statutes of the State of Louisiana. 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank] 

  

75



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana, acting as the governing 

authority of the Issuer, has caused this Bond to be executed in the name of the Issuer by the manual 

signatures of its Mayor and its Clerk, and the corporate seal of the Issuer to be impressed hereon. 

 

CITY OF ABBEVILLE, STATE OF LOUISIANA 

 

_______________________________                                __________________________________ 

Clerk Mayor 

[SEAL] 

 

*    *    *    *    *    * 

 

(FORM OF PAYING AGENT=S CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION) 

 

This Bond is the Bond referred to in the within-mentioned Ordinance. 

   

GULF COAST BANK 

Abbeville, Louisiana 

as Paying Agent 

 

Date of Registration: _________, 2021. By: ________________________________ 

 Authorized Officer 

 

*    *    *    *    *    * 

 

(FORM OF ASSIGNMENT) 

 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Assignor hereby sells, assigns and transfers 

the within bond and all rights thereunder unto the following Assignee: 

Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Address: ______________________________________________________________________, 

who by its execution below hereby certifies to the Paying Agent that (a) it is (i) an affiliate of the 

original owner of this Bond, or (ii) a bank, or entity directly or indirectly controlled by a bank, or 

under common control with a bank, other than a broker dealer or municipal securities dealer, which 

certifies that it is a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended, and (b) it consents to the terms of the Purchaser Letter executed by the original 

owner of this Bond as referenced in the Ordinance. 

 

___________________________, Assignee            ____________________________, Assignor 

 

By: ______________________________        By:_______________________________ 

Its: ______________________________        Its:  ______________________________  

Date:______________________

76



 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 

PARISH OF VERMILION 

 

I, the undersigned Clerk of the City Council of the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana 

(the "City Council"), acting as the governing authority of the City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana 

(the "City") do hereby certify that the foregoing pages constitute a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 21-07 adopted by the City Council on October 5, 2021, providing for the incurring 

of debt and issuance of the Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) Revenue Bond, Series 2021, of the 

City of Abbeville, State of Louisiana; and providing for other matters in connection therewith. 

IN FAITH WHEREOF, witness my official signature on this, the 5th day of October, 2021.

    

    

  ____________________________________ 

  Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77



 6 Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)

CIP START YEAR: 2022

2019 Entitlement Balance (Expires FY22) Instructions
2020 Entitlement Balance (Expires FY23) Show all planned projects (not just AIP funded projects)

$150,000 2021 Entitlement Balance (Expires FY24) For AIP-MY, show est. cost in initial year & list project in following year(s) w/ $0 
$150,000 2022 Entitlement (for planning purposes through 2027) Submit CIP to the ADO as a PDF file dated with signature.

Entitlement Additonal AIP Other Match
AIP $56,000 $50,400 $5,600

State $241,400 $241,400
State $367,500 $367,500

$249,600 Remaining Funds 2022 Annual Subtotals: $664,900 $50,400 $608,900 $5,600
State $140,000 $140,000
State $60,100 $60,100

$399,600 Remaining Funds 2023 Annual Subtotals: $200,100 $200,100
AIP $718,000 $549,600 $96,600 $71,800

State $816,200 $816,200
State $278,000 $278,000

Remaining Funds 2024 Annual Subtotals: $1,812,200 $549,600 $96,600 $1,094,200 $71,800
AIP $175,000 $150,000 $7,500 $17,500

Remaining Funds 2025 Annual Subtotals: $175,000 $150,000 $7,500 $17,500
AIP $580,000 $150,000 $372,000 $58,000

Remaining Funds 2026 Annual Subtotals: 580,000$       150,000$        372,000$         58,000$        
AIP $180,000 $150,000 $12,000 $18,000

Remaining Funds 2027 Annual Subtotals: 180,000$       150,000$        12,000$           18,000$        
6 Year CIP Totals: $3,612,200 $1,050,000 $488,100 $1,903,200 $170,900

SPONSOR SIGNATURE: __________________________________  DATE:  

Chris Crusta Memorial Airport (IYA), Abbeville, LA

2027 $150,000

Construct Concrete Agricultural Loading Area

2026 $150,000

Runway and Taxiway Seal Coat

2025 $150,000

Obstruction Removal of Trees

2024 $549,600

Construct Hangar Development Area (Phase II Construction)
Rehabilitation of the Aprons and Taxilanes (Phase II Construction)(State Only)
Approach Lighting (Phase II Design and Construction)(State Only)

Funding PlanFed 
FY

Entitlement 
Available

Funding 
Source ODO Project Component/Phase  Estimated 

Cost 

2023 $399,600

2022 $300,000

Construct Hangar Development Area (Phase I Design)
AWOS-3 P/T Replacement (State Only)
LED Runway Lighting (State Only)

Approach Lighting (Phase 1 Land Acquisition)(State Only)
Rehabilitation of the Aprons and Taxilanes (Phase I Design)(State Only)

78



79



 

 

 

 

 CITY OF ABBEVILLE 

 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER:                                                                                         Date:  October 5, 2021              

 

R   E   S   O   L   U   T   I   O   N 

 

 

WHEREAS, Title 2 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950 provides that cities, towns, parishes, and other 

political subdivisions of this State may separately or jointly acquire, establish, construct, expand, own, lease, 

control, equip, improve, maintain, operate, regulate, and police airports and landing fields for the use of aircraft; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Louisiana, Department of Transportation and Development, Division of Aviation (formerly 

the LA DOTD-OAPT) is charged by Title 2 with the responsibility for the development of aviation facilities within 

the State to foster air commerce and to safeguard the interests of those engaged in all phases of the aviation industry 

and of the general public; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Abbeville, Louisiana, hereinafter referred to as “Sponsor”, has completed an FAA and 

DOTD approved Master Plan, Action Plan, and/or Airport Layout Plan which outlines the specific future 

development of the Chris Crusta Memorial Airport; and, the Sponsor is desirous of implementing a portion of the 

approved Plan recommendations which provide for the critically needed improvements as stated below to 

substantially improve the safety and usability of the Airport, but does not have sufficient funds of its own required 

for completing the needed improvements; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the LA DOTD, Division of Aviation is authorized by Title 2 to expend funds for the construction or 

enlargement of airports for the safety and advancement of aeronautics; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 

SECTION I 

 

That the Sponsor does hereby formally request that the LA DOTD, Division of Aviation provide funds required to 

complete the airport improvements at the Chris Crusta Memorial Airport specifically as described in the Capital 

Improvement Program Application for State Financial Assistance dated October 5, 2021. 

 

SECTION II 

 

That the said LA DOTD, Division of Aviation be and is hereby assured that all necessary servitudes, rights-of-way, 

rights of ingress and egress and means thereof will be furnished by the Sponsor and the titles thereto will be valid 

and indefeasible, and that the Sponsor will assume ownership, financial reporting, and complete responsibility for 

the maintenance and upkeep of the airport after completion of said improvement. 

 

SECTION III 

 

That the Sponsor will save and hold the said LA DOTD, Division of Aviation, its officers, agents, and employees 

harmless from any liability or claim for damages arising out of the project, including death or injuries to third parties 

including, but not limited to, liability or claim for damages out of the negligence of said LA DOTD, Division of 

Aviation, its officers, agents, or employees, and expressly agrees to defend any suit of any nature brought against the 

LA DOTD, Division of Aviation as a result of this project. 

 

 

 

80



 

 

SECTION IV 

 

That the Mayor of the Sponsor be and is hereby authorized and directed to evidence this agreement by affixing his 

signature at the place provided therefore on this resolution and on subsequent related documents/agreements as 

required by the rules and regulations of the Federal Aviation Administration and the State of Louisiana and the 

Clerk is hereby authorized to attest said execution. 

 

SECTION V 

 

That this resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption.   

 

The City Council for the Sponsor of the Parish of Vermilion met in regular session on this date.  The aforesaid 

resolution was offered by ______________ and seconded by _______________.  The aforesaid resolution, having 

been submitted to a vote, the vote thereon was as follows: 

 

 YEAS: _______ NAYS: ________ ABSENT: ________. 

 

WHEREUPON, the resolution was declared adopted on the 5th day of October, 2021.                          

                                                                                                                               

                                                                                                                       CITY OF ABBEVILLE                         
 

 

BY:_______________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  (Signature) 

 

__________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                       (Typed or Printed Name) 

 

TITLE:____________________________________ 

 

 

ATTEST:__________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  (Signature) 

 

__________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                     (Title) 

 

 

 

 

 

81



 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

IT IS HEREBY certified that the above is a true and correct copy of a resolution passed by the Sponsor of Vermilion 

Parish, Louisiana in regular session convened on this, the 5th day of October, 2021. 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                    (Signature of Secretary of Sponsor) 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                          (Title) 

82



83



84



Public Notice of Sale 
 

 

     Be it known to all:  that the City of Abbeville will have for sale, by public bid one pistol, 

having been lawfully seized and forfeited.  The pistol will be sold to the highest Federal Firearm 

Licensed Dealer bidder by sealed bid submitted to the City Council.  Said auction will be held at 

the regular meeting of the City Council located at 300 A. A. Comeaux Memorial Drive, 

Abbeville, Louisiana, on October 5, 2021, and all bids should be submitted prior to 5:30 P.M. 

 

The pistol to be sold is as follows: 

 

 Glock, model 19Gen4, 9mm caliber 

Serial number:  BBKZ293 

Only Federal Firearm Licensed Dealers allowed to bid 

 

     Pistol will be sold “as is”, with winning bidder assuming the pistol at his/her own risk.  

Further, the sale of the pistol, as evidenced by this notice, is made without reserving the right to 

make any claim whatsoever against the City or the City Council in warranty or redhibition for 

said pistol.  To get specific information about the pistol, please contact Lieutenant Todd O’Bryan 

with the Abbeville Police Department directly by calling 337-893-2511. All sales are final, the 

winning bidder shall tender that amount to the Police Chief’s office within five working days and 

before taking possession of the pistol.  All bidder(s) and the subsequent buyer is bound by the 

terms of the agreement set out herein.   

     Anyone interested in bidding on the pistol, or who submits a bid should attend this meeting.  

Bids should contain the following information:  The name, address and telephone number of the 

bidder; a copy of the federal firearm license of the bidder, the description of the pistol being bid 

upon; and the amount of the bid.  

     Bids must be received in a sealed envelope with the words “Sealed Bid”, the name of the 

bidder and the description of the item being bid upon written on the back of the envelope. The 

City of Abbeville reserves the right to reject any bid.  

     If anyone so desires to submit a bid before the meeting, the bids may be submitted to Kathy 

Faulk at Abbeville City Hall, 101 North State Street, Abbeville, Louisiana 70510. 

85



86



87



88


	Top
	1.	City-wide cleanup recognition
	1.	Minutes to approve
	August 27, 2021 emergency special meeting
	September 2, 2021 special meeting
	September 7, 2021 Committee meeting
	September 7, 2021 regular meeting

	2.	Ratify bills paid
	September 2021 check register

	1.	Public hearing-ordinance adoption
	Bond Ordinance (Adopt)

	2.	Bond ordinance
	Bond Ordinance (Adopt)

	3.	Presentation of CIP airport
	Airport CIP 2022-2027
	2022-2027 CIP Map

	4.	CIP resolution
	Airport CIP Request Resolution 10-5-2021

	5.	Change order #2-rehab of runway and partial taxiway
	Plan Change No. 2 Runway-Taxiway Rehab

	6.	Hollingsworth bridge
	7.	Transformers
	Soloman transformer repair report

	8.	Sale of pistol
	Public Notice of Sale-Pistol

	9.	Mower for Fire Dept.
	Quotes for Fire Dept lawn mower

	1.	LaFitte Walking Trail
	1.	executive session
	Bottom

